I. INTRODUCTION 


This is a brief upon certified question review of the following questions in an 

alleged wrongful failure-to-hire case filed on behalf of Henry Metz ("Metz") against Eastern 

Associated Coal, LLC ("EAC"): 

1) 	 For discriminatory hiring causes of action filed pursuant to the 
West Virginia Human Rights Act, codified at West Virginia 
Code § 5-11-1, et seq., does the statute of limitations begin to 
run from the date that the plaintiff learns of the adverse 
employment decision? 

2) 	 For discriminatory hiring causes of action filed pursuant to the 
West Virginia Human Rights Act, codified at West Virginia 
Code § 5-11-1, et seq., does the discovery rule toll the statute 
of limitations until the plaintiff discovers the alleged 
discriminatory motive underlying the employment decision? 

The Circuit Court of Monongalia County, West Virginia (the "Circuit Court") 

certified these questions for this Court's review. The Circuit Court answered both of the above

referenced questions in the affirmative. The Circuit Court, however, improperly applied West 

Virginia precedent in answering "yes" to the second certified question. The effect of the Circuit 

Court's ruling extends the statute of limitations for retaliatory and discriminatory actions under 

the West Virginia Human Rights Act ("WVHRA") to when the employee learns of the alleged 

discriminatory motive underlying the employment decision. 

At the heart of this case is whether West Virginia will extend the discovery rule to 

effectively eliminate the statute of limitations for causes of action arising under the WVHRA or 

whether West Virginia will adhere to the wealth of authority in other jurisdictions considering 

these precise issues. Employment decisions are direct, open actions taken by an employer 

against an individual who, at the time of the unequivocal notice of the employment decision, is 

aware that he or she has been injured by the employer. Employment disputes are far different 



from issues of medical or other professional malpractice where the ability to ascertain that the 

individual has been injured is greatly inhibited by a true lack of knowledge that the injury even 

exists. 

Accordingly, EAC requests that this Court hold (a) that the statute of limitations 

begins to run from the date that the individual is unequivocally notified of the adverse 

employment action taken by the employer and (b) that the "discovery rule" does not toll the 

running of the statute of limitations until the date when the employee learns of the alleged 

discriminatory motive underlying the employment decision. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Metz filed his original Complaint against EAC in the Circuit Court of Monongalia 

County, West Virginia, on November 23, 2015. Metz's original Complaint alleged that EAC 

discriminated against Metz on the basis of his age in violation of both the West Virginia Human 

Rights Act ("WVHRA"), codified at West Virginia Code § 5-11-1, et seq., and the Age 

Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 ("ADEA"). A.R. at 3-6. Following removal of this 

civil action to the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia on the 

basis of federal question jurisdiction, Metz filed an Amended Complaint eliminating his ADEA 

claim. A.R. at 7-9. The Amended Complaint is otherwise identical factually to Metz's original 

Complaint. Due to Metz's amendment, the District Court remanded this action to the Circuit 

Court. 

In July of2012, when the facts involved in this case took place, EAC was a West 

Virginia limited liability company with its principal place of business in Putnam County, West 

Virginia. A.R. at 7. During all times pertinent to the allegations in Metz's Complaint, Metz 

resided in Preston County, West Virginia. Id. His mining career allegedly began in 1977. Id. 
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Metz's Amended Complaint asserts that he was an active member of the United 

Mine Workers of America ("UMWA") in July of 2012. A.R. at 8. He alleges that, pursuant to 

the collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") in place at that time, he was required "to select 

jobs for which he would like to be considered in the event a vacancy would arise" at the Federal 

No.2 mine in Monongalia County, West Virginia. Id. The Federal No.2 mine was owned and 

operated by EAC in 2012. A.R. at 7. 

Metz's Amended Complaint centers on his bid for the vacant positions of 

mechanic trainee in July of2012. A.R. at 8. EAC awarded the vacant positions to then-current 

EAC employees, which Metz was not. Id. Metz argued that the CBA required EAC to hire 

Metz due to his seniority and qualifications, whereas EAC disagreed and wished to hire current 

employees during a downswing in the coal market. Id. 

Metz contends that in January of 2014, well-within the two-year statute of 

limitations for filing a claim for discrimination under the WVHRA, Don Allard, a former 

manager at EAC, stated during a union grievance proceeding that EAC did not hire Metz 

because Metz "was too old and [Allard] wanted younger employees." A.R. at 9. 

Soon after learning of this information and, again, within the statutory period for 

pursuing a WVHRA claim, on March 19, 2014, Metz filed a "Charge with the United States 

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC") alleging age discrimination in violation 

of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act" ("EEOC Charge"). A.R. at 5. EAC contested 

Metz's position on the timeliness of his ADEA claim, but the issue became moot when Metz 

voluntarily dismissed his ADEA claim while this case was pending in federal court after 

removal. The filing of his EEOC Charge is, nonetheless, an important factor in this case 

because it shows that Plaintiff had every opportunity to file a claim under the WVHRA within 
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the applicable two (2) year statute of limitations but chose, instead, to pursue a claim through 

the EEOC. 

After this matter was remanded to the Circuit Court, on March 8, 2016, EAC filed 

its Motion to Dismiss, and its Memorandum of Law supporting the same, on the basis that the 

statute of limitations for filing a claim under the WVHRA had expired and that Metz's claim 

was, therefore, tardy by nearly two (2) years. A.R. at 10. On March 17, 2016, Metz filed his 

Response in Opposition to EAC's Motion. A.R. at 25. Metz's Response argued that his claim 

should be tolled by the "discovery rule." Thereafter, on May 11, 2016, EAC filed its Reply in 

Support its Motion to Dismiss. A.R. at 32. 

EAC set its Motion for hearing on May 23, 2016. During the course of that 

hearing, the Circuit Court entertained argument from both parties regarding EAC's Motion, then 

advised counsel that the Court would be denying EAC's Motion based upon the Court's 

interpretation of the "discovery rule" and how the rule applied to the WVHRA. EAC then 

orally moved that, because the facts pertaining to the statute of limitations were sufficiently 

clear and not likely to be changed through discovery, the Circuit Court certify the issue of 

whether the statute of limitations is tolled under the WVHRA until the plaintiff actually learns 

of EAC's alleged discriminatory animus. The Circuit Court granted this oral motion and 

entered an Order, dated May 23, 2016, memorializing the hearing and requiring counsel to 

submit their proposed certified questions to the Court by no later than June 7, 2016. A.R. at 45 

On September 7, 2016, the Circuit Court entered its Order Certifying Question to 

this Court. A.R. at 52. Within its Order, the Circuit Court wrote that the arguments of the 

parties represent "questions of law which are determinative to the claims and defenses raised by 

the parties and it appears there is no controlling West Virginia law." A.R. at 53. The Circuit 
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Court outlined the Questions Presented by it to this Court. Id. The Circuit Court certified two 

(2) questions of law for this Court to consider, which are: 

1) 	 For discriminatory hiring causes of action filed pursuant to the 
West Virginia Human Rights Act, codified at West Virginia 
Code § 5-11-1, et seq., does the statute of limitations begin to 
run from the date that the plaintiff learns of the adverse 
employment decision? 

2) 	 For discriminatory hiring causes of action filed pursuant to the 
West Virginia Human Rights Act, codified at West Virginia 
Code § 5-11-1, et seq., does the discovery rule toll the statute 
of limitations until the plaintiff discovers the alleged 
discriminatory motive underlying the employment decision? 

Id. 	 The Circuit Court answered "Yes" to both of its queries to this Court. Id. The Circuit Court 

erred in its response to Question 2, however, because the discovery rule should not toll the 

running of the statute of limitations to the time when the individual learns of the discriminatory 

motive; rather, the statute of limitations should begin to run when Metz learned unequivocally of 

EAC's decision not to hire him. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in misapplying the discovery rule and 

holding that the statute of limitations does not begin to run until Metz allegedly learned ofEAC's 

alleged discriminatory intent. First, West Virginia precedent is clear that the discovery rule, as 

applied to this case, means that the statute of limitations begins to run when Metz "discovered" 

that he was not hired. Perhaps the most fundamental error of the Circuit Court's ruling centered 

on its failure to acknowledge that the "discovery rule" in employment cases is inherent in the 

unequivocal notice of the employment decision that is given to the plaintiff. Stated another way, 

the individual knows at the time of the employer's notice that he/she has been allegedly injured 

through the employer's decision. Adverse employment decisions, by virtue of their very nature, 
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are open and obvious actions taken by the employer. Applied to this case, Metz knew in July of 

2012 that EAC had made the decision not to hire him and that decision led to his alleged injury. 

Second, other jurisdictions that have considered application of the discovery rule 

to discrimination claims, both state and federal, have ruled that it is discovery of the employment 

decision, and not the alleged motivating factor or discriminatory animus, that begins the running 

of the statute of limitations. 

Third, to hold that the WVHRA can be tolled until the displaced employee has 

concrete evidence of discrimination, which is what Metz is proposing in this action, would, for 

all intents and purposes, eliminate the statute of limitations in cases involving alleged 

discrimination in West Virginia. Employees and prospective employees will claim that they may 

have had a "suspicion" of discrimination, but were not confident that their employment had been 

impacted by discriminatory animus until well after the limitations period. Affirming the Circuit 

Court's ruling will defeat the policy purposes of having statutes of limitations, and will do 

irreparable harm to employers in West Virginia. 

Fourth, tolling the statute of limitations while awaiting direct evidence of 

discrimination is inconsistent with the burden - shifting analysis in discrimination claims that this 

Court has articulated many times. This Court has adopted the McDonnell Douglas burden

shifting evidentiary test to allow cases without "direct evidence" of discrimination to proceed to 

trial. This evidentiary framework has been used by litigants time and again in West Virginia to 

overcome motions for summary judgment based solely upon the possibility of the existence of 

discrimination. The McDonnell Douglas framework and the discovery rule, as posed by Metz, 

cannot co-exist with one another. Simply stated, direct evidence of discriminatory animus 

should not act as the trigger to the running of the statute of limitations in West Virginia. Rather, 
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the unequivocal notice of the employment decision must act as the event which begins the 

calculation of the statute of limitations. 

Fifth, Metz's alleged discovery of discriminatory information in this case is the 

final undoing of his claim. Metz fails to recognize that, even after Mr. Allard's alleged 

comments in January of 2014, he had approximately six (6) months remaining before his statute 

oflimitations would have been exhausted. Rather than filing his action timely, he waited another 

twenty-two (22) months, from January of 2014, before filing his lawsuit. Metz's suit was filed 

nearly three and a half (3 Yz) years from the alleged date of the discriminatory act. Meti is 

seeking a remedy for a problem that, in this case, would not have existed but for his own failure 

to file this action promptly. 

For these many reasons, EAC requests that this Court reverse the Circuit Court 

and find that the statute of limitations in West Virginia begins to run from the date that the 

employer provides the plaintiff with unequivocal notice of its employment decision. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

The Court has set this matter for oral argument on Tuesday, March 7,2017. This 

appeal is suitable for oral argument under West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 20(a) 

because it involves an important issue that has wide application in employment related claims 

and which needs clarification from the Court. W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a)(1). Because the Circuit 

Court's Order should be reversed, a memorandum decision is not appropriate. See W. Va. R. 

App. P. 21(d). Therefore, EAC requests that this oral argument remain scheduled for March 7, 

2017. 
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v. 	 STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This Court has held that it "employs a plenary standard of review when we 

answer certified questions." Burrows v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 215 W. Va. 668, 672, 600 

S.E.2d 565, 569 (2004). In a separate action, this Court ruled that the "appellate standard of 

review of questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, 

Gallapoo v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 197 W. Va. 172,475 S.E.2d 172 (1996). The parties are not, 

at this juncture, contesting the underlying facts pertinent to this appeal. EAC is challenging only 

the application of the law to the alleged facts. Therefore, de novo review of the Circuit Court's 

Certifying Order is proper. 

This Court, likewise, has ruled that: 

When a certified question is not framed so that this Court is able to 
fully address the law which is involved in the question, then this 
Court retains the power to reformulate questions certified to it 
under both the Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act 
found in W. Va. Code, 51-lA-I, et seq. and W. Va. Code 58-5-2, 
the statute relating to certified questions from a circuit court of this 
State to this Court. 

Syl. Pt. 3, Kincaid v. Mangum, 189 W. Va. 404, 432 S.E.2d 74 (1993). Therefore, this Court 

certainly retains the authority to reframe the certified questions presented within the Circuit 

Court's Certifying Order to fully address the law involved herein. 

VI. 	 ARGUMENT 

A. 	 The Circuit Court Erred as a Matter of Law in Holding that the Discovery 
Rule Tolls the Running of the Statute of Limitations under the WVHRA 
until the Individual Learns of the Alleged Discriminatory Animus. 

1. 	 The case law is that the statute of limitations begins to run from the date 
of the unequivocal notice to Metz that he had not been hired. 

The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law by ruling that the statute of limitations 

is tolled until the date Metz allegedly "discovered" that EAC had exercised discriminatory 
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animus in deciding not to hire him for the mechanic trainee position in July of 20 12. The parties 

agree that the statute of limitations for pursuing a claim under the WVHRA is two (2) years. A 

party may "choose to file [a] complaint in a court instead of with the [West Virginia Human 

Rights Commission]. If [an individual] chooses to do so, a two-year statute of limitations 

applies." Clay v. Consol Pa. Coal Co., LLC, 955 F. Supp. 2d 588, 595 (N.D.W. Va. 2013) 

(citing Sesay v. Montgomery Ward & Co., Inc., 937 F. Supp. 563, 566-67 (S.D.W. Va. 1996». 

The parties do, however, disagree with respect to when the statute of limitations begins to run. 

This Court has held that "[i]n cases alleging a discriminatory discharge from 

employment under W. Va. Code 5-11-10, the time period for filing a complaint with the Human 

Rights Commission ordinarily begins to run on the date when the employer unequivocally 

notifies the employee of the termination decision." Syl. Pt. 1, Naylor v. W Va. Human Rights 

Comm 'n, 180 W. Va. 634, 378 S.E.2d 843 (1989) (emphasis added), quoting Syl. Pt. 2, Indep. 

Fire Co. No.1 v. W Va. Human Rights Comm'n, 180 W. Va. 406, 376 S.E.2d 612 (1988). In 

that case, Mr. Naylor, a former employee of Bird Machine Company, Inc. ("Bird"), was 

discharged on December 31, 1984. Nay/or, 378 S.E.2d at 844. Mr. Naylor learned of Bird's 

decision to discharge him in October of 1984. Id. Bird allowed Mr. Naylor to remain on the 

company payroll through June 30, 1985, although his employment with the company had ceased 

months earlier. Id, 378 S.E.2d at 845. Mr. Naylor filed a complaint with the West Virginia 

Human Rights Commission on July 19, 1985 claiming that he had been discriminated against on 

the basis of his age. Id The West Virginia Human Rights Commission dismissed Mr. Naylor's 

complaint for failure to pursue his claim within the time afforded by West Virginia Code § 5-11-

IO.Id 
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This Court, on appeal, reiterated its ruling from Independent Fire Co. which had 

been authored the prior year. This Court quoted the United States Supreme Court's ruling in 

Chardon v. Fernandez in noting that "the proper focus is on the time of the discriminatory act, 

not the point at which the consequences of the act become painful." 454 U.S. 6, 8 (1981); see 

also Del. State Call. v. Ricks, 449 U.S. 250 (1980). In applying Independent Fire Co. to the facts 

in Naylor, this Court found that "the discriminatory act alleged by Mr. Naylor was the 

tennination of his employment . . . In these circumstances, we must conclude that Mr. Naylor 

had unequivocal notice of his dismissal in October, 1984, and that the limitations period began to 

run at that time." Naylor, 378 S.E.2d at 846.1 This Court should follow its own precedent and 

rule that, once EAC's decision to hire a different employee for the position of mechanic trainee 

was made clear to Metz, his statute of limitations began to run. (See also, Sesay v. Montgomery 

Ward & Co., where the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia 

similarly ruled that the WVHRA statutory period begins "to run from the employer's 

unequivocal notification to the employee of the adverse employment decision." 937 F. Supp. at 

567. (citing Syl. Pt. 1, McCourt v. Oneida Coal Co., Inc., 188 W. Va. 647, 648, 425 S.E.2d 602, 

603 (1992)); and Syl. Pt. 2, Indep. Fire Co. No.1, supra). 

West Virginia has never recognized the discovery rule as expanding the statute of 

limitations in cases arising under the WVHRA. This Court has, however, noted its emphasis on 

strictly interpreting statutes of limitation: 

Statutes of limitation are statutes of repose and the legislative 
purpose is to compel the exercise of a right of action within a 
reasonable time; such statutes represent a statement of public 

See also, Campion v. W. Va. Dep't ofEduc., 2016 WL 3141580 (W. Va. 2016) (unpublished opinion), in which 
this Court upheld the decision of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia, in holding that the Circuit 
Court properly ruled that the action was not timely by applying the governing statute, which provided that the action 
had to be filed within 180 days "after the occurrence of the alleged violation." [d. at *5. 
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policy with regard to the privilege to litigate and are a valid and 
constitutional exercise of the legislative power. 

Perdue v. Hess, 199 W. Va. 299, 302, 484 S.E.2d 182, 185 (1997). 

This Court has also refused to equitably toll statutes of limitations: "The statute 

of limitations does not distinguish between a just and unjust claim. As stated earlier in this 

opinion, the object of statutes of limitations is to compel the bringing of an action within a 

reasonable time." Johnson v. Nedeff, 192 W. Va. 260, 266,452 S.E.2d 63, 69 (1994) . 

Furthermore, "mere lack of knowledge of the actionable wrong ordinarily does 

not suspend running of the statute of limitations, nor does the silence of wrongdoer, unless [the 

wrongdoer] has done something to prevent discovery of the wrong." Sattler v. Bailey, 184 W. 

Va. 212, 219, 400 S.E.2d 220, 227 (1990) (see also Hundley v. Martinez, 151 W. Va. 977, 986, 

158 S.E.2d 159, 165 (1967)). The Sattler court reminded parties that "obstruction by the 

defendant must be by a positive act and that, therefore, mere silence will not constitute 

obstruction sufficient to toll the running of the statute of limitations, unless there is a duty to 

disclose, due to, for example, a fiduciary or other confidential relationship between the defendant 

and the plaintiff." Id. at 220 (citing Hundley, 158 S.E.2d at 165). There has never even been an 

allegation that EAC did anything affirmatively to prevent discovery of the alleged discriminatory 

motive.

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