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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The circuit court erred as a matter of law when it held that th~ statute of limitations begins 

to run at the time a prospective employer unequivocally notifies a job applicant that he was not 

hired. A.R. at 53. Conversely, the lower court correctly held that West Virginia's discovery rule 

tolls the statute of limitations until the plaintiff knew, or by reasonable diligence should have 

known, that the prospective employer's decision was a result of discriminatory animus. First, West 

Virginia precedent is clear that the discovery rule's applicatio.!1 involves questions offact in order 

to determine when a cause of action accrued. SyI. Pt. 5, Dunn v. Rockwell, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 

S.E.2d 255 (2009). Within the context of a discriminatory hiring claim, the focus i~ when a . 

plaintiff knew facts sufficient to form a basis to assert that the prospective employer's adverse 

hiring decision was motivated by an unlawful bias. In this case, there exist questions offact as to 

when Metz learned EAC hired substantially younger applicants instead ofhim and when he learned 

facts sufficient to allege that BAe's hiring decision was motivated by an unlawful bias. 

Second, the statute of limitations is tolled by the automatic stay during the period when a 

defendant is in bankruptcy. Assuming EAC notified Metz in July, 2012 that he was not hired, and 

even ifMetz's claim accrued in July, 2012, EAC was in bankruptcy for approximately seventeen 

(17) months from July, 2012 until October, 2015. Thus, the limitations period would<not have· 

begun running in July, 2012. The limitations period would have also been tollCd. from May 2015 

through October, 2015 during EAC's second bankruptcy. 

Third, in West Virginia the filing of a charge with the EEOC constitutes a filing with the 

West Virginia Human Rights Commission ("WVHRC"). See W.Va. Code R. § 77-2-3.5. Metz's 

4 
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EEOC Charge, which ·was filed in March 2014, constituted a complaint with the WVHRC 

sufficient to tOll the statute of limitations. } 
,of 

Fourth, requiring a plaintiff to file suit without knowing facts to support an allegation of 

discriminatory animus would result in a forfeiture of claims against diverse defendants in federal 

court. A plaintiff is required to allege facts sufficient to support conc1usory legal assertions in 

order to state a claim for which relief can be granted pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) ofthe Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure. Thus, requiring plaintiffs to file suit within two years ofJearning of an adverse 

hiring decision without factual basis to support a discriminatory animus allegati-on would result in 

a "catch-22" scenario in which a plaintiff would be subject to dismissal under either a statute of 

limitations defense or failure to state a plausible claim under the heightened federal pleading 

standard. See Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009). 
.~. 

Fifth, the WVHRA is not a guaranteed-right-to-employment code any more than it is a 

general civility code. The WVHRA does notrequire employers to hire members of protected 

classes, including the elderly, racially diverse, or disabled; rather, it guarantees West Virginians 

eq1,l8.1 employment opportunities free from discrimination based upon their protected status. .~ 

Likewise, West Virginia employers should not be subjected to lawsuits merely because they do 

not hire protected persons because employers have_ the right to make hiring decisions for 

legitimate, nondiscriminatory business purposes. 

Sixth, unsuccessful applicants who fall within a protected class under the WVHRA are not 

necessarily injured at the time they leam of a prospective employer's adverse hiring decision 

because their injury is dependent upon bias. Because protected persons are not guaranteed to be 

hired based on their protected status, they have not sustained an actual injury unless they were 

denied employment because of discriminatory animus. 
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For these reasons, Metz requests that this Court (1) affirm the decision of the circuit court 

when it held that the discovery rule tolls the statute of limitations for discriminatory-hiring claims 

until the plaintiff learns of the employer's discriminatory animus underlying the adverse hiring 

decision, and (2) reVerse the decision of the circuit court holding that the statute of limitations 

begins to run when the employer notifies the plaintiff that he was not hired. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

The Court has set this matter for oral argument on Tuesday, March 7, 2017. These certified 

questions are suitable for oral argument pursuant to Rule 20Ca) of the West Virginia Rules of 

Appellate Procedure because they involve important issues in discriminatory hiring claims which· 

need the Court's clarification. W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a)(1). Because the circuit court's Order 

should be reversed, a memorandum decision is not appropriate. See W. Va R. App. P. 2I(d). 

Therefore, Metz requests that oral argument remain scheduled for March 7, 2017. 

V. :.STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This Court has held that "[t]he appellate standard of review of questions of law answe~ 

and certified by a circuit court is de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, Gallapoo v. Wal~Mart Stores, Inc., 197 
} 
.: 

W.Va. 172,475 S.E.2d 172 (1996). The Court retains the power to reformulate questions under 

both the Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act found in West Virginia Code Sections 
{. 

51-lA-I, et seq., and 58-5-2. Syl. Pt. 3, Kincaidv. Mangum, 189 W.Va. 404, 432 S.E.2d 74 (1993). 
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VI. 	 ARGUMENT 

A. 	 For Discriminatory Wring Causes of Action, the Statute of Lu..itations Does 

Not Begin to Run Until the Plaintiff Discovers the Factual Basis to Support the 

Elements of the Cause ofAction. " 


1. 	The discovery rule's application involves questions of fact in order to 
determine when the plaintiff's cause of action accrued. 

The circuit court erroneously held that the statute of limitations for a claim sounding in 

discriminatory hiring begins to run at the time the prospective employee receives unequivocal 

notice ofthe adverse employment decision. Although in some cases a plainti.:trs claim may accrue 

at the same time he receives notice, the relevant inquiry is whether he became aware, or by 

reasonabie diligenCe should have been aware, of facts to support the elements of apossible cause 

ofaction. 

It is well-settled West Virginia law that the "discovyry rule" tolls the commencement of 

the lunitations period until a claimant knows or by r~asonable diligence should know of his claim. 

Dunn,225 W. Va. at 50,689 S.E.2dat262 (quoting Gaitherv. City Hospital, Inc., 199 W.Va. 706, 

711,487 S.E.2d 901, 906 (1997». Furthermore, the discovery rule is generally applicable to all 

torts, unless there is a clear statutory prohibition to its application. Id at Syi. Pt. 2. The discovery ..; 

rule charges plaintiffs with knowledge of the factual, rather than the legal, basis for the action. Id 

at SyI. Pt. 4, in part. In Dunn, this Court clarified West Virginia'S discovery rule and ~eld: 

A five-step analysis should be applied to determine whether a cause 
of action is time-barred. First, the court should identify the 
applicable statute of limitation for each cause of action. Second, the 
court (or, ifquestions of-material fact exist, the jury) should identifY 
when the requisite elements of the cause of action occurred. Third, 
the discovery rule should be applied to determine when the statute 
of limitation began to run by determining when the plaintiff knew, 
or by the exercise ofreasonable diligence should have"known, ofthe 
elements ofa possible cause of action, as set forth in Syllabus Point 
4 of Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc., 199 W.Va. 706,487 S.E.2d 901 ,.~. 

(1997). Fourth, if the plaintiff is not entitled to the benefit of the 
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discovery rule, then determine whether the defendant fraudulently 
concealed facts that prevented the plaintiff from discovering or 
pursuing the cause of action. Whenever a plaintiff is able 'to show 
that the defendant fraudulently concealed facts which prevented the 
plaintiff from discovering or pursuing the potential cause ofaction, 
the statute of limitation is tolled. And fifth, the court or the jury 
should determine if the statute of limitation period was arrested by 
some other tolling doctrine. 

Id at Sy1. Pt. S. The only pure question of law is the identification of the applicable statute of 

limitations. ld. Thus, steps two through five are factual determinations to be resolved by the trier 

offact. Id 

It is undisputed that the statute of limitations for a cause ofaction pursuant to the WVHRA 

is two (2) years. The second step in the Dunn analysis requires a detemrination as to when EAe 

hired substantially younger applicants instead ofMetz because of his age. This is a question of 

fact. Third, the discovery rule should be applied to determine when Metz knew, or by the exercise 

of reasonable diligence should have known, facts sufficient to believe that (1) EAe did not hire 

him; (2) EAC hired substantially younger applicants instead of him; and, (3) but for his age, EAe 

would have hired him. This is also a question of fact. As such, both the second and third steps in 

the Dunn analysis necessarily require discovery to determine when the plaintiff discovered facts 

sufficient to support the elements of a cause of action. See Adkins v. SuperVa[u, Inc., 2009 WL 

2029807 at *3 (S.D.W. Va. July 9, 2009) (memorandum decision). 

Because the discovery rule focuses on when the plaintiff discovered a factual basis for the 

action, the relevant inquiry is focused upon when the plaintiff knew, or by the exercise of 

reasonable diligence should have known, the factual basis to support ''the elements of a possible 

cause of action." Syl. Pt. 4, Dunn, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (emphasis added). Thus, 

applying the discovery rule to a discriminatory hiring cause of action necessarily requires that the ..~ 

, 
~: 

".: 
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discovery rule would apply to toll the statute of limitations until the plaintiff acquired knowledge 

of the factual basis to support a cause of action for violation of the WVHRA. 

The elements of a cause of action for employment discrimination are (1) the plaintiff is a 

member of a protected class; (2) the employer made an adverse decision concerning the plaintiff; 

and, (3) but for the plaintiffs protected status, the adverse decision would not have been made. 

Syl. Pt. 2, Johnson v. Killmer, 219 W, Va. 320, 633 S.E.2d 265 (2006). Thus, the discovery rule 

would apply at the earliest date Metz acquired knowledge of facts sufficient to form a good-faith 

basis that (1) EAC hired younger applicants instead ofhim, and (2) that he would have been hired 

"but for" his age. This analysis is not merely a creative interpretation ofthe discovery rule; rather, 

it is an application of the plain letter ofthe law. 

This Court has yet to apply the Dunn factors to WVHRA causes of action, nor did it apply 

any previous versions of its discovery rule to failure to hire cases. EAC cites several ''pre-Dunn'' 


cases from years 1988-1992 in which this Court held that the statute of limitations in 


. discriminatory discharge causes ofaction ordinarily begins to lUn on the date the employer notifies 


the employee of the termination decision.! Pet. Brief at pp. 9, 10; SeeSyl. Pt. 1, McCourt v. 


Oneida Coal Co., Inc., 188 W.Va. 647, 425 S.E.2d 602 (l992) (The statute oflimitations began to 


run on the date the employer notified the employee that he was suspended); SyI. Pt. 1, Naylor v. 


W. 	 Va. Human Rights Comm 'n, 180 W.Va. 634, 378 S.E.2d 843 (1989) (The statute of limitations 

t 
I.: 

began to nm. on the date the employer informed the employee that he was being removed from 

t:
payroll); Independent Fire Co. No. J v. w: Va. Human Rights Comm 'n, 180 W.Va. 406.376 S.E.2d 

W: 

612 (1988) (The statute oflimitations began to run on the date the employer notified the employee ! 
that he was suspended from the company). 

J Metz notes that Petitioner's Brief does not narrow its analysis to discriminatory hiring causes of action, 

as framed by Certified Question Number 2. . 
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EAC conclusorily argues that Dunn supports its position that Metz's claim is time-barred, 

hut fails to acknowledge that the Dunn steps necessarily involve questions of fact. Furthennore, 
.-: 

EAC fails to apply the proper factual standard, which is the determination of when the plaintiff 


knew the factual basis behind the elements of the cause of action. The Court should conclude, 


based upon this Court's precedential framework set forth in Dunn, that, under the discovery rule, 


a plaintiffs claim acCrues at the time he discovers the factual basis to support the elements of a ~
." 

cause of action. Under the discovery rule, dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)( 6) is improper because 

discovery is required to determine when Metz knew, or by reasonable diligence should have 

known, fac~ to support a hiring discrimination claim: 

2. 	 Even if the discovery rule does not apply, the statute of limitations is tolled during 

bankruptcy. 


The fifth Dunn element requires the trier of fact to determine whether the statute of 

limitation period was arrested by some other tolling doctrine. West Virginia law provides: 

the nmning of any statute of limitation is tolled for any claim or 
cause of action for which the prosecution of the same within the 
limitation has been stayed by the provisions of the United States 
bankruptcy code or by an order entered in a bankruptcy proceeding 
pending the duration ofthe stay or effective period of the order and 
for a period thereafter of the remaining period of limitation, or for 

.~ 

one year, whichever is longer. ; 

W. Va. Code § 55-2-22. Here, assuming, arguendo, the statute began to run in July, 2012, 

the running of the statute of limitations was tolled as a matter of law until December "17, 2013 

when the automatic stay was lifted in the Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Missouri 

(Case No. 4: 12-bk-51502). Moreover. EAC's subsequent bankruptcy petition in May, 2015 tolled 
"'f. 

the limitations period for an additional year beginning October 26,2015, the day the automatic 
~": 

stay was lifted. See W.Va. Code § 55-2-22. 



The Court should conclude that under the :fifth factor of the Dunn analysis, West Virginia 

Code § 55-2-22 precludes the statute oflimitations for discriminatory hiring claims from rwming 

while a bankruptcy stay is in effect. Although the statute of limitations may begin to run under 

factors one through three of the Dunn analysis, the filing of bankruptcy effectively prolongs the 

limitation period by virtue of the automatic stay. Under that rule, the limitation period for Metz's 

hiring discrimination claim was tolled during the time period in which he was precluded from 

filing suit because ofEAe's bankruptcy stays. 

3. 	 Filing a complaint with the EEOC tolls the statute of limitations for WVHRA 
causes of action. 

It is well-settled that the statute oflimitations for causes ofaction pursuant to the WVHRA 

is tolled during the period ofadministrative investigation before the WVHRC. See Conaway v. E, 

-Associated Coal Corp., 178 W.Va. 164, 168,358 S.E.2d 423, 427 (1986). Furthermore, the West 

-'Virginia Code ofState Rules provides that "[a]ny complaint alleging acts which are unlawful under 

-1he West Virginia Human Rights Act which is filed with federal agencies having deferral/referral 

arrangements with the Commission, shall be deemed filed with the Commission on the same day 

as the complaint was received by such federal agency.,,2 W.Va. Code R. § 77-2-3.5 (2016). 

The United States Supreme Court recognizes that a state proceeding is deemed commenced 

as soon as an EEOC oomplaint is filed. See Oscar Mayer & Co. v. Evans, 441 U.S. 750, 755 

(1979); see also 29 C.P.R. § 1061.13(a)(4)(i)(B) (When a plaintiff files a charge with the EEOC 

1¥hich may constitute a charge cognizable under Title VII, and where a state human rights 

commission has subject matter jurisdiction for parallel causes of action under state law, a copy of 

the original document shall be transmitted to the appropriate State human rights commission). 

2 West Virginia is a "deferral" state. See Christman v. American Cyanamid Co.• 92 F.RD. 441. 
448 (N.D. W.Va. 1981). 
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"State or local proceedings are deemed to have commenced on the date such document is mailed 

or hand delivered." 29 C.F.R. § i061.13(a)(4)(i)(B). 

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals has held that a deferral agreement between the EEOC 

and WVHRC operates as a waiver ofthe state's deferral right to investigate discrimination claims 

because the state has agreed in advance to refrain from acting upon any age discrimination charge 

initially received by the EEOC. See Petrelle v. Weirton Steel Corp., 953 F.2d 148, 153 (4th Cir. 

1991). EEOC officials are accredited with a "presumption of regularity," whereby courts are to 

presume ·that the EEOC followed regulations and deferred charges to the state human rights 

commission. ld. "This presumption 'supports the official acts of public officers and, in the 

absence ofclear evidence to the contrary, courts presume that they have properly discharged their

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